


History of the
Winthrop Community Hospital, Inc.

The word "history' implies by its very nature an element of
Time from the origin of the specific subject under review to a
current period of writing. As was very ably expressed by Charles
Knight (1791-1873) when he wrote that History has a great office

To make the Past
intelligent to the Present for the
guidance of the Future
the present writer hopes this dissertation will serve that purpose.
Hence, this will start with the Past.

The whole area of what is now the eastern part of Massachusetts
was a lovely wooded virgin area -~ beautiful to see when John Winthrop
and his company arrived in 1630. We pass over the first two hundred
years of the occupation of what is now the Town of Winthrop (then
""Pulling Point'' with Deane, the son of Gov. John Winthrop, being
the sole resident in 1640) to 1852 when there were less than four
hundred residents living in fewer than fifty dwellings in a primarily
farming community at the latter date. That year, 1852, the area
acquired the name of Winthrop and still remained a group of farms
until the coming of a facetiously called "peaﬁut railroad" in the
1870's -- later the Narrow Gauge of 1888.

Thereafter population increased, though the Town was still
without electricity and other facilities. It was by far a lovely

small town of less than a thousand souls.







Now we come to the real origin of our subject, Dr. Ben Hicks
Metcalf of fond memory to a good many of us today. He was graduated
from the Harvard Medical School in 1894, served an internship in
Boston City Hospital and acted as Assista... ...t Physician of Boston.
He became a resident of Winthrop in 1897 and began a successful
practice. He settled in the stately dwelling at 170 Winthrop
Street with his wife Maud R. (Fossett). His only son Richard F.
was born 4 April 1898. Later this son became a stﬁdent at Harvard
Medical School.

The Doctor soon had a growing praétice and in 1904, finding no
facilities for the proper cére of the sick, he built a private
Hospital of 15 beds ét 174 Winthrop Street adjoining his home.

This had a then adequate Operating Room on the westerly side of
the first floor of the Hospital, over which was a large skylight.
Shortly after (1907) he connected the Hospital with his home by an
enclosed passageway.

A testimony of Dr. Metcalf's skill is that it was in that
~operating room that he performed a successful empyema operation
about 1915 on the writer's son, aged four. That son later joined
the Army and is now (1967) a retired Colonel of the U. S. Army after
thirty years of active service, much of it Foreign.

Dr. Metcalf established a School for Nurses at his Hospital
with a three year course and a degree of R.N. Some of the nurses
who served at the Metcalf Hospital at 174 Winthrop Street at some

time between 1904 and 1921 were




Lila Cooper Later Mrs. Edgar Baker
Lillian Cooper " " Herbert Nadeau
Evelyn Floyd " " Wm. H. Clark
Ethel Hartling " " George McEwan
Joanna Hartling " " Harold W. Coghlan
Beulah Heckman " " Alfred Garbutt
Beatrice Polliser " "' Thomas Benson
Elsie Lindbohm " " Exrnest Walker
Elizabeth Powell " '""  Ralph Lownsbro

Also May Carpenter, Patty Kay
Elizabeth Ferguson, Blanch Owen
Elsie.Lindbohm, Edna McKinley
Olga Strobeck and others.

The names of others escapes us at present.

The Superintendent of Dr. Metcalf's Hospital was Miss Sally
Laidlaw (later Mrs. Hart) and his Secretary was Miss Virginia Wry.
Both of these two later served in other capacities in the Winthrop
Community Hospital Inc. on Lincoln Street.

Dr. Metcalf's son Richard F. laid his books aside at the
outbreak of W.W. I and went to war. On 15 July 1918 he gave up
his life in battle in Vaux, France as a Corporal at the age of 20.

It is for this son that what was then Columbia Square was later

named
Metcalf Square

Dr. Ben Hicks Metcalf also went to war with his associate Dr.
Raymond B. Parker, both serving eighteen months overseas. Dr.
Metcalf was twice gassed and on his return home his poor health
forced him to seek a higher and drier climate than Winthrop for a
while. While he was at war the Hospital carried on as best it could
under the direction of Miss Laidlaw as Superintendent and Miss Virginia

Wry as Secretary, for other Doctors' patients.
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it upon themselves to shoulder all the responsibilities involved of

keeping the Hospital in action.

This group of citizens met on 25 August 1922 at the Public

Library and signed an ""Agreement of Association'' for a stock corpora-

tion of 1500 shares at $10. per share.

A farewell reception was tendered Dr. Metcalf on 23 September

1922, a few days before the Charter to the Winthrop Community Hospital

was received on 26 September.

Those who signed the "Agreement of Association' were

Preston B. Churchill 369 Winthrop St.

Albert B. Smith 14 Brookfield Rd.
Artemus B. Reade 33 Shore Drive
Thomas W. Berridge 25 Park Ave.

L. Mabel Davison 31 Lincoln St.

J. Stewart Carr 135 Grover Ave.
George W. Goldsmith 8 Waldemar Ave.
Bernard W. Carey 4 Woodside Ave.
Ralph M. Harper 231 Bowdoin St.
Sidvin F. Tucker 393 Pleasant St.
Elmer E. Dawson 28 Washington Ave.
Eugene P. Whittier 36 Ingleside Ave.

(all of Winthrop)

10 shares
10 1"
10 12
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"
"
"
"
"
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The Charter was issued 26 September 1922 under the seal of

Frederick W. Cook, Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

The Corporators then met 10 October to organize and elect

Trustees for one, two and three year terms and a Treasurer and

Secretary, as shown on the next page.
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In the space for purpose it is written:-

for social service work."

"Winthrop Community Hospital, Incorporated.
The corporation is constituted for the purpose of estab-
lishing and maintaining a general hospital, with appurtenances
thereto belonging for medical and surgical treatment of sick
and disabled persons and a school in connection therewith for
instructing and training nurses in home, hospital, and insti-
tutional service and a department in connection therewith

These incorporators then met and adopted By-Laws and elected

the first Board of Trustees under this new Charter.

The Trustees

then elected from their own members the following officers for

one year:-

President

1st Vice-President
znd 17 1t
Treasurer

Clerk

Eugene P. Whittier
Harriet D. A'Hearn
Allen E. Newton
Preston B. Churchill
Sidvin Frank Tucker

First Board of Trustees elected
under the new Charter

One year

Alphonso W. Belcher
Sidney E. Blandford
J. Stewart Carr
Nelson Floyd

Leslie E. Griffin
Maude P. McClintock
Albert S. Smith
Eugene P. Whittier

Two years

Harriet D. A'Hearn
Elmer E. Dawson
Frederic G. Dews
Wm. H. Gardner

Three

Thomas F. Burke
Preston B. Churchill
Thomas Davidson
Alice S. Farquhar

Jane M. Hatch
Allen E. Newton

Israel Sisson
G. Wallace Tibbetts

years

George W. Goldsmith
Benj. A. Healey

Wm. N. Jenkins
Charles H. Whitney

Sidvin Frank Tucker

(This Board then elected the officers shown above.)
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At this meeting Mr. Whittier, the President, reported fully on
the reasons for the change of the charter, making the Hospital Corpo-
ration a non-profit charitable organization under the laws of Massa-
chusetts, non-taxable.

Voted to assume all the responsibilities of the former Charter --
and fixed the number of Trustees at twenty-four, eight to be elected
annually for a term of three years.

Mrs. Farquhar reported that the Hospital Aid Association had

made progress in their work and were continuing to do so.

At this meeting of 28 January 1925 the question was raised of

the use of the Tocker Farm site pending the time when a Hospital
could be erected. A suggestion was made for laying out plots as
truck gardens which citizens could use for a small fee. Some passive
attempt was made on this plan without any great resulting harvests.!

The Treasurer rendered his report (see page 27 ). That shows
total financial assets of less than a scant $65,000. which included
three separate properties. When one realizes that this was forty
years ago during difficult times one must recognize the high type of
civic mindedness that actuated the citizens of this small Town to
take over the unknown problems incident to operating such an insti-
tution.

Because this meeting was the first Annual one of the Winthrop
Community Hospital, Incorporated, under the existing Charter it is

worthy to note that there were nearly fifty in attendance, twenty-

five being a quorum. From available information the following were




present: -

A. D. Allen

Mrs. F. R. Armstrong
Mrs. Battefeld

A. W. Belcher

Chas. R. Bennison
Sidney E. Blandford
Preston B. Churchill
J. P. Cronin

Gladys Dean

Mrs. W. S. Doane
Ellen Doane

Mrs. John Doleman
Thomas Donovan

J. I. Downie

Mrs. Alice Farquhar
Fred W. Fisher
Herbert W. Floyd
William H. Gardner
George W. Goldsmith
Leslie E. Griffin
Leon C. Guptill

Charles A. Hagman

Rev. Ralph M. Harper
Mrs. Ralph M. Harper
Mrs. Harriet D. A'Hearn
Merton O. Hill

C. Holbrook

Mrs. M. E. Kinney
Russell A. Lang

Mrs. Maude P. McClintock
Alfred Phinney

Louis A. Radell

Mrs. Louis A. Radell
Mrs. Susan Richardson
Mrs. John A. Roach
Edgar Power

John H. Stevens

Mrs. Z. L. Stiles
Sidvin Frank Tucker
Mrs. Ruby (S. F.) Tucker
Matthew C. Walsh

Mrs. Ruth (M. C.) Walsh
Eugene P. Whittier

Mrs. Eugene P. WhitHer

Miss Virginia Wry

(Very probably there were others also)

22.
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to accept the appointment to make suggested plans for a new
Hospital.

Throughout the summer of 1925 there were many committee meet-
ings in various places, in preparation for the coming Campaign fpr

Funds. The Winthrop Women's Club offered a $10. prize for the best

campaign slogan. Two slogans were actually selected ~-- "Help us

to help others'" for $10. submitted by Mrs. Belle A. Floyd, and another
"Open your heart" for $5. submitted by the Rev. Ralph M. Harper.

In August 1925 a goal of $125,000. was set for a Building Fund

Campaign and arrangements were made for the use of 0Odd Fellows Hall
as a Headquarters (then at the southwest corner of Pauline and Fremont
Streets) through the courtesy of Crystal Bay Lodge I1.0.0.F. A Pre-

Campaign was set for Sept. 10-21 and a Main Drive 28 September to

7 October 1925.

Mr. Witham, an associate of Mr. Armstrong, was appointed to
handle publicity for twelve weeks from 1 August, 1925.

Mr. Armstrong,of Worcester, addressed the Trustees again in 0dd
Fellows Hall on 11 Sept. concerning the coming drive which he felt
were divided into six elements thus:-~

1 - Good cause

2 - Right plan
3 - Publicity
4 - Organization

5.z Leadership
6 - Enthusiasm

He said it was for the Trustees to decide whether a new hospital was

needed -- but he was of the opinion from the information he had been
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at Odd Fellows Hall. A detailed record of these daily reports was
kept by the writer and it is included with this History. See pagro 32-35

This campaign closed with a mammoth celebration. Church bells

were rung. The Army Band and Boy Scouts led a parade of about 200

cars ablaze with red lights. This was agreed generally to be the
greatest event in Winthrop since World War One Armistice Day!

Of the $153,181. piedged as of 7 October 1925, plus some small
contributions later, only some $72,000. had been paid in by November
1927. A year later -- January 1929 -- there was but $75,000 "in the
till" and therefore construction was deferred until at least $125,000
was made available. In April 1930 the need for larger hospital was
deemed so urgent that the Trustees decided to begin building during

that Spring. They let a contract for $133,265. to Drisco & Sons

of Boston and started a new fund raising drive. On 12 May 1930

(National Hospital'Day) ground was broken and work started.

Simple but impressive exercises marked the turning of the first
shovelful of earth. After prayer offered by Rev. W. J. Wharton,
pastor of Union Congregational Church, Miss Olivia F. Whittier,
daughter of the Hospital President, had the privilege amid the cheers
of a large number attending, of operating the levers of the huge steam
shovel to scoop out the earth. Then the President, Eugene P. Whittier,
introduced the architect Mr. Stevens, the contractor Mr. Drisco,
Mr. Clancy of the Board of Selectmen, Mrs. Kinney, President of the
Hospital Aid Association, and Doctors Mahoney and Abrams and Mr.

McCutcheon, the Superintendent of Construction. Rev. Ralph M.










22

Result of Drive for Funds to Build
New Hospital on Lincoln Street

Sept. =~ Oct. 1925

The following three pages contain the actual record, made by
the writer at that time, showing the amount raised by forty-one
"Teams" of solicitors for the above purpose. So far as is known
those pages are the only extant record.. . pe420 3}—}4§¥}5

Prior to the main Drive beginning 28 Sept. there was a pre-
campaign quietly held 10-21 Sept. by a picked group of workers
to solicit a special list of citizens and raised $61,124. This

1"

amount was later allotted to the '"Teams" during the main Drive

ending 7 October, as follows:-

The "Team' totals actually were . - - — .~ —~ ~— .- $92,057.
The pre-campaign total of — - ~ = —~ - $61,124.
was divided among '"Teams'
during main Drive for 33,074. 33,074,
And the balance of — - — - - - ~ 28,050.
was assigned to the
Daily reports thus - 1lst Report $18,050.
4th Report 10,000. 28,050.

Grand Total of Drive $153,181. 7
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The writer, as Clerk-Secretary of the Hospital Corporation, was
delegated to receive and introduce visitors during Open House days

and the recollection of a "faux pas" is still a vivid memory after

thirty~-five years. When Miss Ethel Hartling (a former nurse in
Doctor Metcalf's Hospital then in her prime) arrived to look over the
new Hospital at Open House she was warmly greeted as a friend. She
was introduced to Mr. Whittier as "an old nurse'" of Doctor Metcalf's
Hospital, meaning of course a nurse from the old Hospital!! The
look of daggers that then shot from Miss Hartling pierced him and
froze him to the spot. But she soon melted and remained a 1ovély
friend as a former nurse. Be careful not to get words mixed!

It is interesting to note at this point that the last patient in

the former Metcalf Hospital to be sent home directly without being
moved to the new Hospital was one who later became President of the
Winthrop Community Hospital League and now (1967) an Honorary Member
of the Board of Trustees. This was Mrs. Paul C. (Violet Hagman)
Bucknam whose twin daughters Joyce and Joén were born 14 March in the
Maternity Unit at 170 Winthrop Street of the former Metcalf Hospital
two days before the new Lincoln Street hospital became operative on

16 March 1932. She was resident at the former Metcalf Hospital for

twelve days before going home directly on 26 March and was the last

patient to leave during evacuation of the building.

Mrs. Mary Jane Jahnle who had rendered very capable service for
ten years as Superintendent of the Hospital on Winthrop Street resigned

and removed to New Hampshire, having married a patient -- A. Nelson
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At the January 1933 Annual Meeting of the Hospital Corporation

Members, Leslie E. Griffin of the Executive Committee reported that
the two family house on the next street -- 68 Fremont -- which had
been used for a nurses' home, and the former Metcalf dwelling at

170 Winthrop Street (converted to Maternity Unit) had both been sold.
After all patients had been removed to the new Hospital on Lincoln
Street, the former hospital at 174 Winthrop Street was renovated for
a nurses' home.

In December 1934 the fifteen room dwelling at 52 Lincoln Street

(two family) adjoining the Hospital was bought for $3600. which with

some extensive changes and repairs was converted for a home for the

Superintendent and nurses. By May of 1935 these changes had been
completed and the home occupied. The total cost of the property
with changes and repairs came to $9700. Previously there had been

the need for transportation of nurses between the 174 Winthrop Street
nurses' home and Lincoln Street. This expense was eliminated by

the purchase of the Lincoln Street dwelling. There being no further
need for the 174 Winthrop Street property an offer of $3500. was ac-
cepted from Charles R. Bennison who converted it at very considerable
expense to other uses.

During 1935 after all the conditions of the prescribed period had

been met, the Hospital became fully approved by the American College
of Surgeons and has maintained that rating to the present time.
The wisdom of providing a larger hospital was demonstrated re-

peatedly during the first few years and the operation of it settled
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down to a regular routine. . The hurricane in the Fall of 1938
interrupted service only slightly but with the assistance of
Télephone and Electric Companies, the Firemen and Police in their
own sphere of service all facilities were soon back to normal.

In 1941 another adjacent dwelling was bought -- 54 Lincoln

Street -- for $4200. for a nurses' home. Also in 1941 Mrs. Alice
Carlz, R.N. organized a class of twenty-five ladies to act as
Hospital Aids and another group was organized by Mrs. Eilleen Gore,
R.N. as Volunteer Nurses Aids under the Winthrop Chapter of the
American Red Cross. War was on the horizon!

.After ten years of operation of the new Hospital it was definitely
established that the need for more beds became urgent, as the
Hospital was at capacity and overcrowded. Plans were begun for

the building of an annex of 34 beds and a contract was let for work

to start 5 April 1943. The work was completed and Open House held

2 January 1944.

The new addition was occupied in February 1944. The cost was

financed by the accumulated funds that had been donated to the
Hospital amounting to $10,000, a U. S. Government Grant of $16,197.
and a U. S. Government mortgage of $49,000. at 3%. The terms of
the mortgage required a yearly payment of $2000. in reduction of
the principal.

With a shortage of nurses becoming more acute a School for
Attendant Nurses was opened in 1944 under the direction of Mrs.

Mildred H. Goodale, R.N. The first floor of the Annex was used as
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health that he be not re-elected as President. Preston B.
Churchill resigned as the Treasurer of the Hospital after twenty-
six years of continuous selfless service and Austin S. Curtis was
appointed Treasurer. Also Winfield S. Kendrick, Jr. who was Clerk
since January 1933 was elected as President and Richard K. Griffin
took over the not so simple a chore as Clerk.

Too often it is easy to take for granted that an office in a
Town institution is one of Honor and no work. However, those who
have been called to that side of the fence know by experience that
any such office of Honor is also demanding of integrity and a vast
amount of time from one's own personal pursuits. The rest of us
are the beneficiaries of the gratis contributions of time and abilities
of those willing to serve and owe a debt of gratitude for their un-
selfish labors in going that ''extra mile'.

The Lincoln Street entrance to the Hospital opened directly
into the lobby and it was suggested that an outer door and enclosed
porch would be a welcome convenience. This suggestion was well taken
by a Hospital supporter and in September 1948 it was reported tha£
the porch had been builg and given to the Hospital by tlre=—mother—at

¢ vmemony af M o Sen
Mrs. W. F. Kendrick, Jr.A‘ This has been enjoyed ever since. N uvA page

Ever mindful of the Hospital's needs and interests Eugene P.

Whittier reminded the Trustees in April of 1947 that the 25th

Anniversary would be in January 1948 and suggested that an effort be
made to raise twenty-~five thousand dollars in anticipation of impend-

ing State License Rules and Regulations concerning Maternity Units.
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Such a campaign was launched and over $27,000. was raised by
4 January 1948, which with some later donations reached $28,447.
Mr. Lloyd A. Patrick, a resident of Winthrop who had been asso-
ciated with Stevens & Lee, the architects who had designed the
original building, was consulted by Mr. Whittier regarding the con-
templated changes for the Maternity Unit. During the year the
Maternity Unit had the needed changes made under a contract let to
Piper Brothers, Inc. of Cambridge, which by April of 1951 were com-
pleted and fully approved by the Department of Public Health. The
cost including equipment was nearly $35,000. The Hospital League
during a two year period raised $3000. for equipment for this Unit.
After twenty-five years of devoted service the few members still re-
maining in the Hospital Aid Association decided to disband.

In January 1951 Mr. Ernest Bentleywas elected President as Mr.

Kendrick declined to serve as he had moved from Winthrop. Mr. H.
Dwight Hall continued as Clerk having succeeded Richard K. Griffin,
who had moved, in 1950.

Mr. Leslie E. Griffin who had devotedly supported the H;spital
and served as its President for fourteen years beginning in 1932
died 5 October 1951 and a Resolution was passed and spread on the
Records in recognition of Mr. Griffin's service to the Hospital and
community for many years. He was 76.

In October of 1951 it was reported that beginning in November

the Superintendent, Mrs. C. K. Merrill, R.N. (who followed Miss Clark

in 1949) would be hospitalized with Miss K. D. Chaplin, R.N. Acting
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Superintendent in the interim. Mrs. Merrill was out until June
1952 when she returned and served out the year.

Miss Edna D. Price, R.N., who had seventeen years service at

Emerson Hospital in Concord and the last six at Norwood Hospital

became Superintendent 15 February 1953. She reported a desperate

need for nurses -- were eight short and that there were 30 students
at that time in School.

The Treasurer reported in August 1952 the receipt of a $5000.
bequest from the Estate of Mrs. Grace L. Bliss and in November Mr.
Peter W. Princi said the net receipts from the Hospital Ball were
over $5000.

In. January 1953 the officers elected were

President Ernest Bentley
1lst Vice President F. H. Clark

2nd Vice President K. S. Magoon
Treasurer H. S. Burroughs
Clerk H. Dwight Hall

Miss Price assumed her duties as Administrator 15 February,

the title of chief officer being changed from Superintendent to

Administrator. She early made a number of definite suggestions

to improve facilities -- chiefly handicapped by lack of space for
offices and waiting rooms =-- and housing for new personnel.

Treasurer reported receipt of $2000 bequest from estate of
Mrs. Georgia A. Snow.

In January 1954 the 1lst and 2nd Vice Presidents elected were

Kenneth S. Magoon and Fred A. Baumeister respectively, Mr. Fred H.

Clark having died in office. He collapsed at Town Meeting in April.




P

50

After thirty years, a summary of the Treasurer's Report for

1953 showed

Current Assets $ 65,021.41
Invested & Cap. Funds 55,416.54
Plant funds 274.420.88

$394,858.83 7

Current Liabilities $ 24,225.66
Working Capital 40,795.75
Invested & Corp. funds 55,416.54
Plant funds - Mtg. Pay. $ 32,076.42

Plant Cap. 242 .344.46 274.420.88

$394,858.83 ¢

Income 1953

Patients $363,926.36

Less Operating expense 365,054.15
Loss $ 1,127.79 7

Other income $ 30,720.64

Less expenses 12,662.67 18.,057.97

16,930.18

Less for contingencies 26,205.08

Net Loss after contingencies $§ 9,274.90 ¥

Miss Chaplin, R.N., resigned effective 5 November 1954 after
seventeen years service and the Trustees passed a Resolution in
commendation of her many years of faithful service as Director of
Nurses and as Assistant Administrator and made a gift to her of

$600. Her associates tendered her a Tea Thursday 4 November.

During 1954 several projects which had been contemplated were

carried out. This included some extensive alterations by removing
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the Laboratory, X-Ray and other ancillary services from the north

' side of the first floor of the main building to the first floor of
the annex. The structural changes were considerable and costly.
Also much new equipment was required -- X-Ray, cardiograph, etc.,
which ran into high figures. The space thus released on the first
floor of the main building gave much needed room for administration,
treasurer, bookkeeping, etc., and at the same time greatly enhanced
the facilities for ancillary services. These latter were the fastest
growing departments of the Hospital. A contract for the work was
let in June 1954. The total cost of all for the building and the
equipment was~$92,422. Part of this was met by some Funds of the
Hospital that were available for this purpose of $50,000. and part
from a Grant of $33,800. from the Ford Foundation. After the work
was completed the new improvements were dedicated 13 February 1955.

At this time, 1954, the three nurses' homes were in use at

52 Lincoln Street, 54 Lincoln Street and the one at 29 Ingleside Avenue.

30 August 1956 Miss Price reported to the Executive Committee

that Miss Virginia Wry would retire after thirty-four years as
Hospital Secretary, Accountant and other duties and personnel would
give her a reception on 5 September two days before she leaves 7
September. The Trustees voted Miss Wry a separation gift of $500.
and passed a Testimonial vote expressing its sincere appreciation

for long service in these words:-
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human breast"™ and that hope was not far in the years ahead from
being fulfilled.

A testimony of the constant endeavor to improve the Hospital's
facilities with new modern equipment and renovations of its other
properties is the fact that the Trustees arranged for such better-
ments to the extent of some $20,000. in 1960. The following year
about $43,000. was invested in other new equipment and improvements,
of which $20,000. was for the installation of a new X-Ray table.

At the January 1961 Annual Meeting there was one change of

Officers -- Mr. H. D. Hall retired with the title of Honorary Clerk. .
He was followed by Mr. John J. McCarthy. Unexpectedly, on the

16th March Mr. McCarthy died. Mr. Edw. L. Lane became Acting Clerk,
resigning in April and on 27 April Mr. Martin J. Cain was elected

Clerk. This left the officers of 1961 as

President Ernest Bentley
l1st Vice President Kenneth S. Magoon
2nd Vice President Fred A. Baumeister
Treasurer Harry F. Burroughs
Clerk Martin J. Cain

Early in the year the subject of a new home for nurses and a

School for Student nurses came in for review and discussion. In
June 1961 the following Committee was appointed to investigate and
report on the matter:-

Ernest Bentley, Arthur Soper, Kenneth S. Magoon,

Fred A. Baumeister, George H. Hill, Miss Price,

Mrs. Remby, Dr. D. T. Staffier, Mrs. A. E. Keane.

Mr. Bentley was Chairman of the Committee, which contacted Donaldson

R. McMullin Associates, the architects. In November plans were
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approved for $320,000. with the hope that Grants could be obtained
from the State and also U. S. Government.

There were some severe blizzards in the Winter months of

December 1960 and January and February of 1961 and the Hospital
managed to keep going without undue handicaps.

There were a number of gifts and bequests this year. The net
receipts of a Hospital Ball in May were nearly $2,000. -- a bequest
from the Estate of Mrs. Mary H. Walker in Memory of Frank B. Walker --
$500. donation from Mr. Baumeister for the cost of an automatic
heated Bassinette, the excess to go to a new Nurses' Home fund --
$814. as a final payment of the Bequest of the Estate of W. S. Hibbard --
$700. toward endowment of Hospital Room from Harold A. Budreau --

Mrs. John J. McCarthy gave $1,000. to furnish a room in Memory of

her husband -- $2500. was received in full for the Bequest from the
Estate of Charles H. Whitney =-- John P. Clancy gave $1,000. as an
addition to the Memorial of his son Pvt. J. P. Clancy Jr., total $4,486.
-- and a gift of $10,000 from the G.M.Hyams Trust toward the cost of
X-Ray Equipment which had been installed at a cost of over $20,000.

Such welcome Gifts and Bequests are what gives the inspiration to

those who have the responsibility of administering the Hospital to
"carry on''.

- The Davison home and barn on Ingleside Avenue was razed in

October 1961 at a cost of $1980. by the Central Building Wrecking

Co. -- and Bituminous concrete was laid in the driveway of the

Hospital and the nurses' home on Lincoln Street.
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the nursing staff held a party for her 6 December. Service of the
unsung beyond the eye of the general public.
In accordance with good practice in preparation for an emergency

a "Disaster Drill'" was held 9 November which the Administrator, Miss

Price, termed a success through the prompt response of Doctors, Police,
Firemen, Civilian Defence and the submission of ten "mock'' patients.
These and other unseen services are things for which citizens should
be grateful. Preparation before an unexpected event is so important
to the prompt efforts in saving life.

The erection of the nurses' home and school on the Davison site
on Lincoln Street opposite the Hospital was the major accomplishment
of the Hospital Corporation in 1963. It represented the fruition
of a dream of many years in planning, negotiating, financing, letting
contracts. This was accomplished through the diligent labors of
various Committees involved who after intensive study made a final
report in February 1963 and was discharged as having completed their
assigned task. Their recommendations were followed and a new com-
mittee of five was appointed with full authority -- '"School and Home
Construction Committee' under Chairmanship of Mr. Bentley, who gave
a clear and comprehensive projection of what the ultimate costs of

financing might be, thus:-




Cost Financing
Land $ 16,000. Land
Architect $ 45,000. Arch. Pd. on Acct.
Low Bid  $291,000. H-B 407%
+ 5% 15,000. 306,000. Avail. funds
Furnishings 30,000. y Sale of houses
Clerk of works 6.,000. 387,000.

$403,000.7

Def. to Finance

This picture seemed to justify proceeding.
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$ 16,000.
37,000.
152,800.
123,145.
35,000.

$363,945."

39,055.

$403,000.

After many meetings with the architects and others a contract

was ultimately signed with Kay-Locke, Inc. to be the builders, and

ground was broken 30 March 1963.

The final and happy occasion for the completion of the Home and

School for Practical Nurses on Lincoln Street was on Sunday 10 November

1963 when it was dedicated as Lincoln House.

Reporting now to items of very much less cost than erecting

Lincoln House, it had been noticed in the Hospital that something was

amiss in the partition wall of the dining room.

experts confirmed the belief that termites were doing a job.

Investigation by

They

were speedily eliminated at a cost of $385. which can be viewed as

a drop in the bucket compared to outlays of thousands spent for

facilities and other repairs in 1963.

Greater space was needed for parking and so the area in the rear

of the Hospital was enlarged by taking down half of the apple trees

and moving the fence further east in July.

In September it was voted to repair the brick work on the north
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side of the Hospital. That brick work had deteriorated greatly.
At the cost of $7500. the work was completed in October.
With the erection of Lincoln House there was no further need
for the dwelling 29 Ingleside Avenue which had been used for some of the
students, so an offer was accepted and sold for $18,500.

In January 1964 Mr. Harold A. Budreau became Treasurer following

the retirement after eleven years of Mr. Burroughs, the other of-
ficers remaining the same. Dr. John F. Collins was elected to the
Board of Trustees representing the Medical Staff.

In May it was voted to utilize the roof of the nurses' home --

Lincoln House -- as a sunny resting spot for the nurses by installing

a wooden deck with a fence around it. Mr. Thompson was the low
bidder at $595.

Mrs. Marion S. Remby, R.N., Principal of the School, resigned

after eleven years of service ~-- 2% as the Principal and 8% as
Instructor -- as of 29 May. Mrs. Lorraine P. Dibble, R.N., to
take over, and on 14 June 1964 a Tea was tendered Mrs. Remby.

It was suggested that a tentative plan be made for adding a one

story addition to the Hospital for about half the front length of

the building, at the front entrance and an architect was asked to
make preliminary drawings for such a possible event.
During the Summer several well-known persons were visitors at

the Hospital --
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""Servend", managers of the Hospitals dietary department,
changed its name to '"Seiler's-Dining and Dietary Service'.

Mrs. Lorraine P. Dibble, R.N., who was appointed Principal of
the School for Practical Nurses following the resignation of Mrs.
Marian S. Remby in May 1964 reported at the Annual Meeting in
January 1965, that as of 30 September 1964 there were thirty-four
Students in the School.

June 1965 Miss Edna D. Price said that the shortage of nurses

had been a bit relieved and that the situation was the best since

1953.

23 R.N.'s Registered Nurses

19 L.P.N. Licensed Practical Nurses

11 Aids

27 Students
a total of 80, plus some Part-time R.N.'s and L.P.N.))s To a layman
outside the Hospital, that seems to indicate Miss Price had the
situation pretty well in hand. At that time there were signs she

might resign shortly -- but more of that later.

At Trustees' meetings there were discussions about the lack of

an adequate Pension Plan for the Hospital personnel. The subject

was then referred to Mr. Baumeister to investigage ~-- possibly with
a ten year qualification.

The Treasurer reported the receipt in September of $22,511.33
being the final payment of the U. S. Government's 407 share of the
cost of the new Lincoln House -- nearly two years after the Home

was built, which inspires the quotation ''one should not look a gift
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horse in the mouth" even after waiting two years!

Some of Winthrop's streets are every bit as crooked as are the
proverbial "cow paths'' of Boston, so it is understandable that out-
of-towners =-- including Dr. Paul Dudley White and some other Doctors
who had trouble finding the way to the Hospital, on account of the
lack of street signs and sometimes street repairs. So at a meeting
of Hospital Trustees in September 1965 the complaint was put in the
hands of the reliable Mr. Baumeister to handle through the Building
& Grounds Comm. |

(As of the writing of this chronicle in March)
(1967, Lincoln Street is nicely paved but )
(elsewhere in the town the past Winter has )
(left a host of 'pot holes'". )

In a previous paragraph it is indicated that Miss Edna
Dorothea Price might resign. In a note she set the date as 31
October 1965, or not later than 1 December. Commenting as a
matter of record Miss Price said she had worked in health care vo-
cations for forty-five years, in over thirty-six in Hospital Admin-
istration -- thirteen of them at Winthrop Community Hospital. She
was born in Nova Scotia where she received her early education and
came to Boston later where she trained at the New England Baptist
Hospital and received Registered Nurse degree there in 1924. From
there Miss Price went to the Faulkner Hospital and three others
before coming to Winthrop in 1953. She has studied at Harvard,
Brown, Boston University and the University of Chicago in supplement

of her vocation, and has been a member or officer in fourteen

Medical organizations.




[

In September 1965 the Trustees with sincere regret accepted the

- intentions of Miss Price and at the October meeting she voiced her
appreciation for all the help given her throughout all the years she
had been in Winthrop.

On 18 November at the Trustees Meeting it was Voted that, in
consideration of thirteen years of faithful service and the lack of
a Pension Plan for retiring employees that Miss Price be given
severance pay of $2,000. A Resolution was also passed in recog-
nition of that service, the text of which is on the next page.

Pending the appointment of a new Administrator Miss Elizabeth
F. Penney was designated Agking =~ Administrator until that time.

There had been numerous interviews with several applicants and
final decision was not made until December 1965 when it was voted to
appoint

Earle S. Wilks, Administrator

as of 1 February 1966 at $8,000. plus living quarters at 54 Lincoln

Street plus meals at the Hospital.

Since this chronicle now comes close to the present time it
ceases to be 'history'" in the usual sense ''years ago', so the follow-
ing is more or less abbreviated just to maintain continuity to bring
it up to date.

| At the Annual Meeting of Members of the Hospital Corporation

26 January 1966 it was voted that the schedule of dues should be

Full membership $10.)
Contributing membership 15.) annually
Sustaining membership 25.)

Life membership $300.



















76

At the 22 December 1966 meeting of the Executive Committee of

the Trustees, the writer was introduced as a "Guest' and the author
of the "Pictorial History of Winthrop'". Mr. Princi had previously
suggested to the '"Guest' that he write a History of the Hospital
and invited him to discuss the matter with the Executivé Committee.
The question of raising a large sum of money to enlargg the Hospital
was also discussed and how a History could be used for that purpose.
The writer agreed to write a history and commented that it would be
exactly that -- not a fund raising brochure -- and that it would be
for the Executive Committee to decide themselves whether a History,
much abbreviated and shorn of its warm human interest would serve a
Fund Raising purpose. It was the opinion of those present to let
the matter of raising funds rest for the time being.

Before closing this human interest record it is needful to
recall that in preparing this recitation and having visited the
Hospital many times during the past forty years or more and '"living
with it" all that time, so to speak, the writer became aware that

nurses, doctors, trustees, personnel and all who are closely connected

with the Hospital face the same hazards of life as the rest of us.

For instance, of the nursing staff Mrs. Dibble found it necessary to
take a leave of absence in 1965; Miss Fussell became ill in 1946 and
died later; Mrs. Goodale had three months' leave in 1958; Mrs. Merrill
had six months' leave in 1962; Miss Price's doctor told her to "slow
down and rest'" and '""follow the doctor's orders'" which she did in 1965;

of others Jim Ahearn broke a leg in 1957; Mr. Wilks was laid up
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Balance Sheet - 31 December 1966

78

Assets
Cash $ 16,295.
Accounts Rec. - Net 162,983.
Inventories 39,335.
Prepaid expenses 2,716. $ 221,329.
Endowment Funds - see below 132,732.
Plant Accounts
Buildings and Equipment $687,778.
Land & Moveable Equipment 37,304.
Reserve for Plant items 43,534.
Trustees' Funds 24.710. 793,326.
$1,147,387.
Liabilities
Accounts Pay. $ 33,526.
Accrued Payroll 20,670.
" Radiology 15,660.
" Taxes 685.
Other items 1,526.
$ 72,067.7
General Fund & Net Worth 149,262, $221,329.
Endowment Funds 132,732.
Equity in Plant Funds 793,326.
$1,147,387."
Y (Fanny Bates $§5435. Waldo Dodge $ 4,892.
8 (Helen E. Gardner 7022. Eli Tasker 106,038.
@ (H. Adams Mem. 1904. H. Leviston 2,038.
* (Win. Womens Club . 284. Win. Nurses Sch. 1,754.
o (Catherine Downs 2242. Undetermined 2.
v (Harriet A'Hearn 1121. 18,008.~
18,008. $132,732. 7













On the following six pages are copies -

of several pieces of literature issued

during the

1925 CAMPAIGN FOR FUNDS

to erect the original building on

1

Lincoln Street for the

WINTHROP COMMUNITY HOSPITAL

the ground-breaking ceremony for which

occurred later, in May 1930.

(So far as known these are the only)
(copies extant. )
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